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1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND CONTACT
DATA OF THE GROUP
AS Liwathon E.O.S. (former AS Vopak E.O.S.) is a company registered in Estonia, the main activities
of which are storage and transshipment of oil products through terminals located in Maardu and
the Port of Muuga. AS Liwathon E.O.S. Group consists of the following subsidiaries: AS E.R.S., Tallinn
LNG OÜ and Liwathon Limited. In 2020, AS Liwathon E.O.S. Group employed 247 employees on
average (290 employees on average in 2019).
The shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S. is Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ. The sole shareholder of
Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ is a Guernsey based company, Liwathon Terminals Limited, which is
solely owned by Barclay Thomas Rowland.

Legal address:			

Vana-Narva mnt 27a

				74114 Maardu
				

The Republic of Estonia

Commercial Registry no.:

10715645

Phone:				

+372 6 266 100

Fax:				

+372 6 266 163

E-mail:				

info@liwathoneos.com

Internet homepage:		

http://www.liwathoneos.com

Main activity:			

Transshipment and storage of oil products

Auditor:			 Ernst & Young Baltic AS
Beginning and end of financial year:
01.01.2020-31.12.2020
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2. LIWATHON AT A GLANCE
L I W A T H O N E.O.S.

BERTHS
7 Berths with depths of
between 6,1m to 18m

P ORT SERVI CES
Loading and unloading of
vessels of any size,
up to VLCC (300 000mt)

T O TA L
1 051 800 cbm

R AILWAY SERVI CES
Loading and unloading of
rail tank cars (39km of rail
tracks and 398 unloading
posi�ons)

TERM I NALLI N G SERVI CES
Storage, blending, hea�ng,
bunkering, addi�ve
services, lab on-site

78 tanks
Tank Sizes
1 500 – 1000 000 cbm
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WHO WE ARE
THE LARGEST INDEPENDENT OIL PRODUCTS TERMINAL
FACILITY ON THE BALTIC SEA
Headquartered in Maardu, Estonia with
an oﬃce in London

and provide strategic storage (including storage
for arbitrage and contango storage)
Railway infrastructure

Independently owned and managed

REGIONAL HUB
WITH A GLOBAL REACH
ASIA
US
ARA

FINLAND
Vysotsk

L I W A T H O N E.O.S.
L I WAT H O N
LATVIA

St. Peterburg

Ust-Luga

RUSSIA

LITHUANIA
POLAND

BELARUS

KAZAKHSTAN

EFFICIENCY AND STRATEGIC POSITIONING
Access to distant
markets
(US, ARA, Asia)

Accommodates
(incl. VLCC)
No ice

various

Product
sale price

Reliability and
a terminal

outcomes
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3. CEO STATEMENT
AS Liwathon E.O.S.’s (“the Group”) main activities include provision of throughput, storage and
blending services for liquid fuel products. The service includes unloading of products from rail
tank cars for further transshipment to seagoing vessels. The Group also possesses technology for
unloading products from vessels to terminal tanks. The Group owns four separate terminals; two
of which are located in Maardu and two in Muuga Port, the northernmost ice-free port in the
European Union. In addition to the transshipment service, segregated storage of products and
blending services are also provided to customers. The total capacity of the tank farm owned by the
Group is currently 1,052 thousand m3 and it is technologically equipped for throughput and storage
of dark and light fuel products.
As of 31 December 2020, the Group had the following subsidiaries: AS E.R.S., Liwathon Limited and
OÜ Tallinn LNG.
Despite 2020 having been a challenging year for many sectors and companies, it is with great pride
that we present AS Liwathon EOS’s strong financial results for 2020. Last year concluded the first
full year of our new ownership, and it is during this year that the results of our hard work and our
new strategy began to transpire and bear fruit. The new strategy, focused on building a worldclass blending and trading hub, has three main pillars: growing and diversifying the customer base,
reducing overheads and operating costs, and maintaining high standards of safety, while investing
further to energy efficiency and new technologies.
We are proud to report that in 2020 we made considerable progress in all three key focus areas. Not
only did we grow our customer base and strengthen existing relationships with our core long-term
customers, but by increasing the complexity of services offered, we have now become a vital part of
our customers’ logistical operations. Global energy majors and traders have recognised our ability
to compete actively with leading terminals in ARA and we often surpass our competition in terms
of service level and cost-efficiency.
In 2020, considerable efforts were also spent in the restructuring of our operations and we were
able to reduce the total number of employees by approximately 25% without impacting our high
levels of service. We concluded to outsource our railway and shunting operations, sell the assets
that were no longer required and reduced the headcount at headquarters.
In terms of energy efficiency, we were successful in accumulating further savings with regards to
our electricity and gas usage by investing to energy efficiency solutions. We equipped more of our
tanks with floating roofs and made further investments to reduce emissions, improve environmental safety and operational flexibility for customers.
The new strategy, focused on building a world-class blending and trading hub, has three main
pillars: growing and diversifying the customer base, reducing overheads and operating costs,
and maintaining high standards of safety, while investing further into energy efficiency and
new technologies.
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Our business activity in 2020 was strong, with the Group having handled a record 360 ship operations
and over 6 million tons of rail and ship throughput volume during the course of the year. All these
changes, developments and improvements are reflected in the strong figures of our 2020 financial
results. In 2020, the Group’s total operating income came in at 32,7m EUR (2019: EUR 22,6 million), a
44% increase compared to 2019, while total operating expenses were reduced by 30%. This resulted
in the Group’s net profit rising to 12,5m EUR (2019: loss of EUR-5,262 thousand), a net margin of 38%.

22,6 m €

2019

2020

12,5 m €

32,7 m €

-5,262 m €

Total operating income

Net profit

In the reporting period, the Group invested approximately EUR 1,3 million (2019: EUR 1,7 million)
in the strengthening and modernisation of its infrastructure. In addition, the Group made significant investments to bring its operations in line with the standards of environmental protection and
employee health and safety. Next year, the Group plans to continue investing in the improvement of
the infrastructure and working environment of its terminals.

38,9 %

Return on tangible fixed assets

53,4 %
5,5 %

3,2 %

Key ratios that characterise the performance of the Group are:
Return on tangible fixed assets (EBITDA / tangible fixed assets) 38.9% (2019: 3.2%)
EBITDA margin (EBITDA / sales) 53.4% (2019: 5.5%)
Equity ratio (E/A) 0.76 (2019: 0.56)

EBITDA margin

0,56
0,76
Equity ratio

The following formulas were used to calculate the above ratios:
EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation)
Return on tangible fixed assets (EBITDA / tangible fixed assets = operating profit before depreciation, finance income and costs, and
corporate income tax / [(opening balance of property, plant and equipment + closing balance of property, plant and equipment) / 2]
EBITDA margin (EBITDA / sales) = operating profit before depreciation, finance income and costs, and corporate income tax /
revenue
Equity ratio (E/A) = Total equity / total assets

Our business activity in 2020 was strong, with the Group having handled a record 360 ship
operations and over 6 million tons of rail and ship throughput volume during the course of
the year.
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We are now in a strong financial position with a cash balance in excess of 11,6 million EUR,
enabling us to us to look for new growth opportunities.

On average, 247 persons were employed by the Group in 2020 (2019: 290 persons). The number
of employees at the end of the period totaled 220 persons (2019: 271 persons). Staff costs in 2020
amounted to EUR 9,3 million (2019: EUR 11,0 million).
No dividends were declared in 2019 nor in 2020 and the Group is debt free except for its leases.
We are now in a strong financial position with a cash balance in excess of 11,6 million EUR, enabling
us to us to look for new growth opportunities. As a first step towards further growth, in 2020 we
opened an office in London to focus on new business development.
There is no doubt that 2020 was a year during which all companies had to adjust their operations
to cope with the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. Despite having to make considerable changes to the
way we operate, the Group demonstrated its ability to manage this challenge without any negative
impact on operations or service levels. We are incredibly thankful to all our employees, who have
managed to handle record volumes under the added difficulties of the pandemic and its resulting
challenges.
While 2021 will certainly bring its own challenges, we are confident that the Group is in a strong
position to take advantage of the resulting opportunities that will arise.

Gert Tiivas

Chairman of the Management Board
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4. 2020 HIGHLIGHTS
4.1. GROUP STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE
Liwathon Group is solely owned by Barclay Thomas Rowland.

Barclay Thomas Rowland

LIWATHON TERMINALS LIMITED
The Old Stables; Rue a L’Or, St Peter Port,
GY1 1QG, Guernsey

LIWATHON TERMINALS
ESTONIA O.U.
Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

LIWATHON E.O.S.

Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

AS E.R.S.

Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

Liwathon Limited

2 Duke Street, St James’s,
SW1Y 6 BN, U.K.

Tallinn LNG OÜ

Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

Liwathon E.O.S was the first asset acquired by Liwathon Group in 2019. AS Liwathon E.O.S. has
three subsidiaries: AS E.R.S., Liwathon Limited and OÜ Tallinn LNG.

2020 Annual Report

|

10

MANAGEMENT BOARD
Gert Tiivas
is our Chief Executive Officer. A former CEO of East Capital Explorer, he has
experience in investments and restructuring. Previously, Gert was also the CEO
of the Baltic Stock Exchanges, a large telecom company and a private bank.

Boris Akulenko
is our Chief Commercial Officer. Boris has 29 years of experience in the liquid
fuels sector, including storage, shipping and trade.

Merika Nimmo
is our Chief Legal Officer. She has worked in the Estonian Prosecutor’s Office
and one of the leading law firms in the Baltic region.

Heiki Karu
is our Chief Operating Officer. Heiki has many years of experience in operating
terminals on the Baltic Sea, incl. 10 years at Liwathon E.O.S.

SUPERVISORY BOARD
Edmund Rowland
Chairman of the Board. Previously, the CEO of a Middle Eastern Trade Bank, Edmund has extensive
experience in finance and trade. He was also Chairman of the Board of a listed conglomerate with
investments in oil and gas services.
Aurelien Rowland
Board Member. He has numerous years of international experience in private equity and financial
services in Europe.
Peter Lang
Board Member. Formerly the CEO of a European Bank, Peter has numerous years of experience in
finance and restructuring in Europe.

2020 Annual Report

|

11

4.2. GROUP INFRASTRUCTURE
Full range of terminalling services
Favourably located in Muuga, Estonia, our terminals open vast opportunities for sea and rail transportation of liquid fuels throughout the Baltic region.
We provide an extensive range of quality services for the handling, throughput, blending and storage of liquid fuels that are traded for worldwide destinations.
Our extensive network of onshore terminals, blending facilities, pipelines and railway
infrastructure, creates a unique platform to deliver efficient and customised services
internationally.
Our competent and experienced team enables the best business outcome by developing
tailored solutions that meet the objectives of our customers.
Quality and quantity controls are carried out by acknowledged independent
international experts that are engaged in all the processes. Their assistance contributes
to the reliability and transparency of all operations.
We remain firmly committed to adhering to the highest industry standards of
compliance and best practice, and we continuously endeavour to create and add value
for our customers and partners.
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Four terminals in one structure create unprecedented strong organisation with a unique set of
services and abilities.
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TERMOIL

TRENDGATE

PAKTERMINAL

STIVTERMINAL

Latitude 59.457140
Longitude 24.971130

Latitude 59.451070
Longitude 24.922760

Latitude 59.491980
Longitude 24.940260

Latitude 59.487310
Longitude 24.962320

Storage capacities

Storage capacities

Storage capacities

Storage capacities

415 000 cbm

250 000 cbm

311 300 cbm

75 500 cbm

Number of tanks

Number of tanks

Number of tanks

Number of tanks

30

12

33

3

Tank sizes

Tank sizes

Tank sizes

Tank sizes

From 1 500 to 100 000 cbm

From 5 000 to 30 000 cbm

From 1 500 to 15 000 cbm

Ca 25 000 cbm

Products

Products

Products

Products

HSFO, LSFO, VGO

HSFO, LSFO, VGO, Crude

HSFO, LSFO, VGO, Crude,
Gasoline, Gasoil, Solvent,
Naphtha, GCT

Jet fuel, Gasoline, Gasoil

TOTAL

1 051 800 cbm

78 tanks

Tank Sizes
1 500 – 1000 000 cbm

Railway and truck
unloading facilities

Storage

Berths

Operations

Location

78 tanks holding
anything between
1,500 - 100,000 cbm,
allowing for maximum
flexibility

7 berths with a depth
of up to 18 meters

The largest
independent oil
terminal in the Baltics
with over 1 million
cbm (6.7 million
barrels) of storage
capacity

Four sites located
around the port of
Muuga near Tallinn and
interconnected through
a highly sophisticated
pipeline system,
allowing blending,
storing and STS
operations throughout
terminal infrastructure

398 railway unloading
position with 39 km
of rail tracks on site
and truck unloading
facilities

All berths are inter-connected, allowing for Ship to Ship (STS) operations between vessels
berthed at different quays of the Liwathon E.O.S. terminal. STS operations are restricted
elsewhere on the Baltic Sea.
In the past 20 years, Port Muuga has never imposed any ice-class restrictions on large
tankers.
The draft limit is 17m, allowing Liwathon E.O.S. to load the largest, VLCC-type tankers.
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4.3. COMMERCIAL AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
During 2020, the market for liquid fuels terminal services experience varying dynamics:
At the beginning of the year, high demand for blending services of heavy fuels dominated,
caused by new limitations for bunkering fuels introduced by IMO2020
In March, the intensification of the Covid-19 virus pandemic caused a severe drop in oil consumption, reflected in the sharp drop in prices of crude/fuel products. Market structure
changed from backwardation to major contango for crude and oil products, making storage
economics very attractive for market players. Terminal storage globally was in high demand
Following production cuts introduced by OPEC, supply/demand ratio became balanced in
the second half of 2020, leading to the market structure returning to backwardation, limiting
interest of market players in storage services
Increasing political tensions between Belorussia, Russia and EU create a rationale for potential
re-routing of Belorussian oil product exports from Latvian, Lithuanian and Estonian ports to
Russian oil terminals on the Baltic Sea
In 2020, we were successful in growing our strong and diverse customer-base:
Oil majors
Exporters
Growth in niche-market players’ activities
The unique combination of premium business models, high levels of operational flexibility and customers’ satisfaction creates strong foundation for LEOS to extend its success in 2021.

Vessel calls on 2018-2020

Railway volumes in KTs on 2018-2020

36% 6,822

-15% 5,005

26% 5,923

2020

-40% 687

22% 1,677

2019

-32% 1,147

-18% 187

14% 227

93% 360

2018

Total volumes handled in KTs on 2018-2020
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Monthly storage utilisation in 2018-2020
100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%

Jan 18
Feb 18
Mar 18
Apr 18
May 18
Jun 18
Jul 18
Aug 18
Sep 18
Oct 18
Nov 18
Dec 18
Jan 19
Feb 19
Mar 19
Apr 19
May 19
Jun 19
Jul 19
Aug 19
Sep 19
Oct 19
Nov 19
Dec 19
Jan 20
Feb 20
Mar 20
Apr 20
May 20
Jun 20
Jul 20
Aug 20
Sep 20
Oct 20
Nov 20
Dec 20

40%

Financial Highlights
Year

2018

2019

2020

26 206

22 432

29 307

867

1 239

15 646

3,3%

5,5%

53%

-3 402

-5 262

12 521

Net Margin %

-13%

-23%

43%

CAPEX

1 269

1 758

1 256

-716

1 903

8 443

Revenue
EBITDA
EBITDA Margin %
Net Profit

Cashflow
(EUR thousands)
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4.4. INVESTING FOR THE FUTURE
Liwathon invested approximately EUR 1,3 million in the strengthening and modernisation of its
infrastructure in 2020.
Our budget for capital investment in recent years has covered the below main focus areas:
1.
2.
3.

Environment. To minimise emissions, we have installed approximately 3 new floating roofs
into the storage tanks every year. Now all our light product tanks and many dark product tanks
are equipped with floating roofs.
Energy efficiency. We have worked hard to reduce costs and to improve efficiency in our largest
cost area, which is energy. As a result, we have managed to decrease electricity consumption
by 7% in 2020 while significantly increasing the utilisation.
Health and Safety. Every year, we continue to invest in health and safety solutions. In 2020, the
focus was on improving our fire safety systems as well as reorganising workflow and processes
due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Installed a new internal floating roof into tank
no 9 in Trendgate terminal

Exchanging firefighting main lines in Pakterminal
Tankfarm no 4

Export pipeline maintenance

Installed additional valves to improve energy
management and avoid sero heating in tanks in
Termoil terminal
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4.5. SHEQ OVERVIEW
Liwathon has an integrated management system, which is certified in accordance with ISO
14001:2015 and ISO 50001:2018 standards. The most recent audits were carried out in June 2020
for environmental standard ISO 14001 and in November 2020 for energy management standard
ISO 50001. All Liwathon terminal services are managed in accordance with integrated management
system and are kept continuously in full compliance with the valid legislation, EU regulations,
industry standards and internal policies and guidelines.
Sustainability issues, control and trend analysis of SHEQ KPIs, as well as relevant monitoring and
reporting systems are of key importance to Liwathon. Liwathon has implemented SHEQ KPI data collecting system for personnel incidents, such as the number of fatalities, injuries, medical treatment
cases, number of restricted work cases as well as for process incidents, such as near miss incidents,
unsafe acts, spills/leaks, fires and product contaminations. In 2020, one medical treatment case
and 3 near miss incidents were recorded.
There have been no official complaints received about the company’s activities during 2020. No
proceedings or related investigations have been initiated.
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4.6. HUMAN RESOURCES
Relocating the main office
We decided to move our head office closer to our terminals and as of January 2020, we moved into
the newly renovated office in Maardu, which sits adjacent to Termoil terminal.

Employee satisfaction survey
In 2020, we conducted an employee satisfaction survey. The overall employee satisfaction with the
company company was very high with 96.9 % of the respondents agreeing to be satisfied with the
company. Our employees highly value Liwathon as an employer.
Employee appraisal and feedback
To further support the development of our employees, Liwathon developed a uniformed performance appraisal system allowing all employees and managers to evaluate performance and agree
goals. We also conducted a 360-degree feedback survey, allowing each Liwathon employee to give
feedback to his colleagues and managers.
New base for employment contracts
In 2020, Liwathon updated the base employment contract for all employees and created supportive
conditions for increased remote work solutions due to the global Covid-19 virus pandemic.
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4.7. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Liwathon supports Maardu Youth Centre
For many years, Liwathon has been supporting the Maardu Youth Centre. The contribution is used
to improve the opportunities for leisure and sport activities for the local young people.

TalTech scholarships and traineeship
In 2020, Liwathon decided to support young and talented university students. In cooperation with
the TalTech University, the leading sciences and technical university in Estonia, Liwathon awarded 3
scholarships to TalTech students.
Liwathon has also developed its traineeship program to encourage young people to take initiative and to introduce them to our business operations. First trainees from the Estonian Maritime
Academy of TalTech have joined Liwathon in the spring of 2021 for a traineeship program.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Assets

Note

31.12.2020
EUR thousand

31.12.2019
EUR thousand

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4

11,653

3,929

Trade and other receivables

5

7,479

12,974

Other current financial assets

10

1,218

0

Prepayments

5

264

233

Inventories

6

1,552

1,612

Non-current assets held for sale

6

551

0

22,717

18,748

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

38,751

42,101

Intangible assets

8

43

55

Total non-current assets

38,794

42,156

TOTAL ASSETS

61,511

60,904

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Lease liabilities

9

860

1,120

Trade and other payables

11

3,583

14,214

4,443

15 334

10,591

11,595

Total non-current liabilities

10,591

11,595

TOTAL LIABILITIES

15,034

26,929

2,133

2,133

57,172

57,172

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

9

Equity
Share capital

12

Share premium
Statutory reserve capital

1

213

213

Revaluation reserve

1

3,185

3,185

Foreign currency reserve

1

-19

0

126,206

113,685

-142,413

-142,413

TOTAL EQUITY

46,477

33,975

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

61,511

60,904

Retained earnings
Treasury shares

12

The notes on pages 10-44 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Current assets
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Note

2020
EUR thousand

2019
EUR thousand

Revenue

13

29,307

22,432

Other income

16

3,427

212

32,734

22,644

Total operating income
Operating expenses
Operating expenses

14

-7,733

-10,357

Staff costs

15

-9,305

-11,039

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

7, 8

-2,122

-4,070

Other expenses

16

-50

-1,989

-19,210

-27,455

Total operating expenses

Operating profit
Revenue

13

29,307

22,432

Other income

16

3,427

212

Total operating income

32,734

22,644

Profit (loss) before tax

12,521

-5,262

0

0

12,521

-5,262

-19

0

12,502

-5,262

Income tax expense
Net profit (loss) for the financial year
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (loss) for the financial
year

The notes on pages 10-44 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Cash flows from operating activities

Note

Profit before tax

2020
EUR thousand

2019
EUR thousand

12,521

-5,262

Adjustments
Tangible assets’ depreciation and impairment

7

2,095

3,991

Intangible assets’ amortisation and impairment

8

27

80

Gain/loss (-/+) on disposal and write-off of
property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets

16

-3,191

1,871

Other finance income/expenses

17

1,003

451

-26

-10

Other adjustments
Change in receivables and inventories related to
operating activities

5, 6

10,352

-11,133

Change in liabilities and prepayments related to
operating activities

11

-10,844

9,306

-389

-338

11,548

-1,044

Interest paid

9, 17

Total cash flows from operating activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

7

-1,308

-1,735

Purchase of intangible assets

8

-14

-40

7,16

4,799

332

18

-1,305

0

-20

0

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Loans granted to parent entity
Sale of subsidiary

16

200

0

Interest received

17

7

9

Change in deposits

5

-4,653

7,225

-2,293

5,791

0

-1,773

-812

-1,071

-812

-2,844

8,443

1,903

3,929

2,054

8,443

1,903

-718

-28

11,654

3,929

Total cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Repayments of bank loans
Lease principal payments

9

Total cash flows from financing activities
Total cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
year

4

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash
equivalents
Effect of exchange gains/losses on cash and bank
balances
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

4

The notes on pages 10-44 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Cash flows from investing activities

2020 Annual Report

|

24

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Share
capital

Share
premium

Statutory
reserve
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Foreign
exchange
reserve

Treasury
shares

Total

Balance as of 31.12.2018

2,133

57,172

213

3,185

118,947

0

-142,413

39,238

Loss for the financial year

0

0

0

0

-5,262

0

0

-5,262

Other comprehensive
income

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total comprehensive loss

0

0

0

0

-5,262

0

0

-5,262

Balance as of 31.12.2019

2,133

57,172

213

3,185

113,685

0

-142,413

33,975

Net profit for the financial
year

0

0

0

0

12,521

0

0

12,521

Other comprehensive
income

0

0

0

0

0

-19

0

-19

Total comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

12,521

-19

0

12,502

2,133

57,172

213

3,185

126,206

-19

-142,413

46,477

Balance as of 31.12.2020

More detailed information on share capital and its changes is provided in Note 12.
The notes on pages 10-44 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 Accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
AS Liwathon E.O.S. is a company registered in the Republic of Estonia (legal form – public limited company), the main activities of which are transshipment and storage of oil products through the terminals located in Maardu and the Port of Muuga.
The consolidated financial statements of AS Liwathon E.O.S. for the year ended 31.12.2020 include the financial statements
of AS Liwathon E.O.S. (parent) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter the Group).
The following consolidation group entities are included in the consolidated financial statements for the year 2020:

Ownership
Domicile

2020

2019

Main activity

Owner

Estonia

0%

100%

Investing and advertising activities

AS Liwathon E.O.S.

U.K.

100%

0%

Business development and support services

AS Liwathon E.O.S.

OÜ Tallinn LNG

Estonia

100%

100%

Storage services of liquids and
gases

AS Liwathon E.O.S.

AS E.R.S.

Estonia

100%

100%

Transportation activities

AS Liwathon E.O.S.

OÜ EK Holding
Liwathon Limited

The parent’s legal address is Vana-Narva mnt 27 a, 74114 Maardu, Estonia.
The shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S. is Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ. The sole shareholder of Liwathon Terminals Estonia
OÜ is a Guernsey company Liwathon Terminals Limited.
The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Management Board on 16 April 2021. According
to the Commercial Code of the Republic of Estonia, the annual report shall be approved by the Supervisory Board and the
general meeting of shareholders of the parent company. The financial statements have been prepared in thousands of Euro.

Summary of key accounting policies
The key accounting policies used in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented below.
The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented in the financial statements. Group entities
use uniform accounting policies.

Basis of preparation
The Group’s 2020 consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the European Union.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis as presented in the accounting policies
below.
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires the management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and the
management makes estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Accounting estimates may often not coincide with subsequent actual events related to them. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and they are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or the areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are presented in Note 3 to these consolidated financial statements.
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A. Changes in accounting policies and presentation
Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
The following new or revised standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2020.
Conceptual Framework in IFRS standards - The IASB issued the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
on 29 March 2018. The Conceptual Framework sets out a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting,
standard setting, guidance for preparers in developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to others in their
efforts to understand and interpret the standards. IASB also issued a separate accompanying document, Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards, which sets out the amendments to affected standards
in order to update references to the revised Conceptual Framework. Its objective is to support transition to the revised
Conceptual Framework for companies that develop accounting policies using the Conceptual Framework when no IFRS
Standard applies to a particular transaction. For preparers who develop accounting policies based on the Conceptual
Framework, it is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
IFRS 3: Business Combinations (Amendments) - The IASB issued amendments in Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3) aimed at resolving the difficulties that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a
business or a group of assets. The Amendments are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date
is in the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or
after the beginning of that period, with earlier application permitted. The amendments has no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors: Definition of ‘material’ (Amendments) - The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2020 with earlier application permitted. The Amendments clarify the definition of material and how it
should be applied. The new definition states that, ’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity’. In
addition, the explanations accompanying the definition have been improved. The Amendments also ensure that the
definition of material is consistent across all IFRS Standards.
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (Amendments) - In September 2019, the IASB issued
amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, which concludes phase one of its work to respond to the effects of Interbank
Offered Rates (IBOR) reform on financial reporting. The amendments published, deal with issues affecting financial
reporting in the period before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative interest
rate and address the implications for specific hedge accounting requirements in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, which require forward-looking analysis. The amendments
provide temporary reliefs, applicable to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by the interest rate benchmark
reform, which enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the replacement of an
existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate. There are also amendments to IFRS
7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding additional disclosures around uncertainty arising from the interest rate
benchmark reform. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and must
be applied retrospectively. Phase two (ED) focuses on issues that could affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with a risk-free interest rate (an RFR). These amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the group.

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted
Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures:
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - The amendments address an
acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments
is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or
not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if
these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment
indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. These amendments will
not have impact on the financial statements of the Group as the Group has no associates or joint ventures.
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IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments)
- The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier application permitted. However, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the IASB has deferred the effective date by one
year, i.e. 1 January 2023, to provide companies with more time to implement any classification changes resulting from
the amendments. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies
determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date
should be classified as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement
of financial position and do not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any
asset, liability, income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments
clarify the classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments.
These Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has not yet assessed the impact of these
amendments.
IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments) - The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted. The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows:
IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations.
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of property,
plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its
intended use. Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company
includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous.
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS
16 Leases
These Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has not yet assessed the impact of these
amendments.
IFRS 16 Leases – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment) - The amendment applies, retrospectively, to
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is permitted, including in financial
statements not yet authorised for issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amended the standard to provide relief to lessees from
applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The amendment provides a practical expedient for the lessee to account for any change in lease
payments resulting from the COVID-19-related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under
IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of the following conditions are met:
The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change.
Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021.
There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.			
In February 2021 the IASB issued a proposal to extend the relief period by another year, i.e. to apply the practical expedient on rent concessions to a change in lease payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022 from 30 June 2021. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with earlier application permitted. These
Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has not yet assessed the impact of these amendments.
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Amendments) - In August
2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address
the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free
interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments provide for a practical expedient when accounting for changes in
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest
rate to be adjusted, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce reliefs
from discontinuing hedge relationships including a temporary relief from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. Furthermore, the amendments to
IFRS 4 are designed to allow insurers who are still applying IAS 39 to obtain the same reliefs as those provided by the
amendments made to IFRS 9. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to enable users
of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments
and risk management strategy. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
with earlier application permitted. While application is retrospective, an entity is not required to restate prior periods.
These Management has not yet assessed the impact of these amendments.
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IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies
(Amendments): The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier
application permitted. The amendments provide guidance on the application of materiality judgements to accounting
policy disclosures. In particular, the amendments to IAS 1 replace the requirement to disclose ‘significant’ accounting
policies with a requirement to disclose ‘material’ accounting policies. Also, guidance and illustrative examples are
added in the Practice Statement to assist in the application of the materiality concept when making judgements about
accounting policy disclosures. These Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has not yet
assessed the impact of these amendments.
IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments): The amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with
earlier application permitted and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on or after the start of that period. The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments
clarify what changes in accounting estimates are and how these differ from changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors. These Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has not yet assessed the
impact of these amendments.

B. Foreign currencies
I. Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements of all group entities have been prepared in the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (functional currency). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euros (EUR),
which is the functional currency of the group entities and presentation currency of the parent.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euros rounded to the nearest thousand, unless referred
to otherwise.

II. Foreign currency transactions and assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are recorded based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income as income or expenses of that period. Monetary financial assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into euros using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Gains and losses from foreign currency translation are recognised in profit or loss as income or expenses of that
period.

III. Conversion of foreign operations
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of foreign operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

2020 Annual Report

|

29

C. Principles of consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities under the control of the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
The power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee);
The right to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed on the date of
the transaction. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The costs attributable to acquisition are charged to expenses. The acquired identifiable assets and liabilities and
contingent liabilities are recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.
For each business combination, the Group makes an election whether to recognise a non-controlling interest in the acquiree
at fair value or in the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
If the amount of the consideration transferred, a non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the equity ownership in the acquiree which was previously held by the acquirer (as of the date of acquisition) exceeds the group’s interest in
identifiable assets and liabilities assumed, the difference is recognised as goodwill. If the fair value of the net assets acquired
is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the
assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised
at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate
consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill which arose in the acquisition of subsidiaries
is reported as an intangible asset in a separate balance sheet line.
The financial information of all subsidiaries of the parent are consolidated line-by-line in the consolidated financial statements. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment.

D. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand as well as bank account balances
(except for overdraft) and term deposits with original maturities of up to 3 months.

E. Financial assets
Classification

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. The Group currently has only financial assets measured
at amortised cost.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

With the exception of trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset.
All Group’s debt instruments are classified in amortised cost measurement category.
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Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other income/(expenses). Foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses are presented as separate line
items in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair value are recognised in
statement of comprehensive income as finance income or finance expense.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.
The measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range
of possible outcomes, (ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost and effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions.
For trade receivables without a significant financing component the Group applies a simplified approach permitted by IFRS
9 and measures the allowance for impairment losses at expected lifetime credit losses from initial recognition of the receivables. The Group uses a provision matrix in which allowance for impairment losses is calculated for trade receivables falling
into different ageing or overdue periods. The estimated collectability of trade receivables is assessed individually for each
material customer. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the loss is recognised in profit
or loss within other operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against other operating expenses in the income statement.

F. Trade receivables and contract assets
Trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15, and assessed for impairment as described above under E Financial assets.

G. Inventories
Inventories are measured in the statement of financial position at cost, consisting of the purchase costs, production costs and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Purchase costs include the purchase price, other non-refundable taxes and direct transportation expenses related to the
purchase, less discounts and subsidies.
The cost of the inventory items that are individually identifiable is determined on the basis of expenses incurred for the acquisition of each item. Other inventories are expensed using the FIFO method.
Inventories are measured in the statement of financial position at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

H. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are non-current assets used in the operating activities of the Group with a useful life of
over one year. An item of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost which consists of the purchase price
(incl. import duties and other non–refundable taxes) and other costs directly related to the acquisition that are necessary
for bringing the asset to its operating condition and location. An item of property, plant and equipment is carried in the
statement of financial position at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset
will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be determined reliably. The cost of a major overhaul incurred on rental
premises is depreciated over the rental period. Other maintenance and repair costs are expensed when incurred.

2020 Annual Report

|

31

Land is not depreciated. Other items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives:
Useful lives by groups of property, plant and equipment:
Buildings and facilities

10-30 years

Machinery and equipment

3-10 years

Vehicles

3-10 years

		

Other non-current assets

3-5 years

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives
of the assets, as follows:
Land		

14-43 years

Buildings and facilities

3-14 years

Vehicles

1-5 years

		

The useful lives of non-current assets are reviewed on each balance sheet date, when recognising subsequent improvements
and in case of significant changes in the Group’s development plans. When the estimate of the useful life of the asset significantly differs from the previously established one, the remaining useful life of the asset is revised, as a result of which the
deprecation charge will change in subsequent periods.
If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of identifiable components with different useful lives, these components are recognised as separate items of property, plant and equipment and separate depreciation rates are set for them
depending on their estimated useful lives.
Depreciation is commenced from the time when the asset is ready to be used for the purpose intended by the management
and is ceased when the residual value equals the carrying amount.
On each balance sheet date, the management estimates whether there is any known indication of impairment of non-current
assets. Whenever there is any indication of impairment, the management determines the recoverable amount (i.e. higher
of the asset’s fair value minus costs to sell and its value in use). If the asset’s recoverable amount is lower than its carrying
amount, the items of property, plant and equipment are written down to their recoverable amount. When the circumstances
of assessing the recoverable amount of the asset have changed, the previous impairment loss is reversed (see section J).
Gains and losses from the sale of items of property, plant and equipment which are derived by subtracting the residual value
from the sales proceeds are reported in the line items Other income or Other expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income.
Borrowing costs (e.g. interest) related to the construction of items of property, plant and equipment are capitalised during
the period necessary to bring the asset into condition of being able to operate in the manner intended by the management.

Non-current assets held for sale
The Group classifies non-current assets as held for sale if they are expected to be sold in the next 12 months. The criteria for
held for sale classification are regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and management has initiated the sale
process (e.g. has signed an agreement with another party for future sale). Non-current assets held for sale are measured at
the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

I. Intangible assets
An intangible asset is initially recognised at cost, comprising its purchase price and any directly attributable costs on preparing the asset for its intended use. An item of intangible assets is carried in the statement of financial position at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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Software and information systems
Expenditure related to the development and maintenance of software and information systems is included within period
expenses. Expenditure directly related to software or information systems directly controlled by the Group, the cost of which
can be measured reliably and the future benefits of which are expected to flow to the Group over a period longer than one
year is initially recognised as intangible assets. Expenditure includes the wages and salaries of employees involved in software
development and a share of general overhead related to development.
Costs related to development of information systems and software recognised as intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives (3-5 years).
Useful lives of intangible assets by group:
Software and information systems

3-5 years

J. Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (incl. goodwill) are not amortised but they are tested once a year for impairment
by comparing the asset’s carrying amount with the recoverable amount.
Depreciable assets and assets with unlimited useful lives (land) are evaluated for any evidence of impairment. Whenever
such evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is assessed and compared with the carrying amount.
An impairment loss is recognised in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of the asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, the recoverable amount is assessed for each individual asset or for the smallest identifiable group of
assets for which cash flows can be determined (cash generating unit).
On each following balance sheet date, the assets that have been written down are assessed to determine whether their
recoverable amount has increased (except for goodwill). Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss as a
reduction of the impairment loss. Impairment losses of goodwill are not reversed.

K. Leases
(a) Group as a lessee
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. Please see notes 1A and 9. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
Land

14 to 43 years

Buildings

3 to 14 years

Motor vehicles

1 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section J in Note 1 Impairment of
non-financial assets.
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Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount
of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease
payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
The Group’s lease liabilities are included in Borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e.,
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

L. Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities (trade payables, borrowings and other current and non-current financial liabilities) are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The amortised
cost of current financial liabilities generally equals their nominal value, therefore current financial liabilities are carried in
the statement of financial position at their redemption value. For determining the amortised cost of non-current financial
liabilities, they are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received (less any transaction costs), calculating
an interest expense on the liability in subsequent periods using the effective interest rate method.
A financial liability is classified as current when it is due to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date or the
Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date. Borrowings due to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date but that are refinanced as long-term after
the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are authorised for issue are recognised as current liabilities. Borrowings that the lender has the right to recall on the balance sheet date as a consequence of a breach of contractual terms
are also recognised as current liabilities.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

M. Employee benefits
(a) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which fall due within twelve months
after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. Short-term employee benefits include items
such as wages, salaries and social security contributions; benefits related to temporary suspension of the employment contract (such as paid annual leave).

(b) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either the Group’s decision to terminate an employee’s
employment before the normal retirement date; or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for
those benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits as a liability and an expense when, and only when, the Group is
demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of an employee or a group of employees before the normal
retirement date; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy.
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N. Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events and it is
probable that the meeting of this obligation leads to lower resources embodying economic benefits and the amount of the
liability can be measured reliably. The provisions are recognised based on the management’s estimate regarding the amount
and timing of the expected outflows. The provision is recognised at a discounted amount which the management considers
necessary for the settlement of the liability relating to the provision or its transfer to a third party as of the balance sheet
date.
Provisions are only used to cover those expenses which they had been set up for.
Other possible or present obligations that arise from past events but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as contingent liabilities.

O. Taxation
(a) Corporate income tax
According to the Income Tax Act, the annual profit earned by entities is not taxed in Estonia and therefore, no deferred tax
assets or liabilities arise. Instead the dividends paid out of retained earnings are subject to the corporate income tax rate
of 20/80 of the amount paid out as net dividends. The payment of dividends to shareholders is reported as a liability in
the Group’s financial statements in the period in which dividends are declared by the entity’s shareholders. The corporate
income tax arising from the payment of dividends is recognised as a liability and an income tax expense in the period in which
dividends are declared, regardless of the period for which the dividends are paid or the actual payment date.
However, deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. As at 31.12.2020 the Group does not plan to distribute any profits from its subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future.
From 2019, tax rate of 14/86 can be applied to dividend payments. The more beneficial tax rate can be used for dividend
payments in the amount of up to the average dividend payment during the three preceding years that were taxed with the
tax rate of 20/80. When calculating the average dividend payment of three preceding years, 2018 is the first year to be taken
into account.

b) Other taxes
The Group’s costs are affected by the following taxes:
Tax

Tax rate

Social security tax

33% of the payroll and the fringe benefits paid to the employees

Unemployment insurance tax

0.80% on the payroll paid to the employees

Fringe benefit income tax

20/80 on the fringe benefits to the employees

Corporate income tax on expenditures not related to business
activities

20/80 on expenses not related to business activities

P. Revenue recognition
Revenue is income arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary activities. Revenue is measured in the amount of transaction
price. Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange of transferring
control over promised goods or services to a customer, excluding the amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a good or service to a customer.

Provision of services

The group provides throughput and storage services for crude oil and oil products, railway logistics, railway vehicle repair and
other services related to the above. Revenue from providing services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. As a rule, the service period does not exceed one month. Revenue is recognised on the basis of the fees
agreed in the customer contracts or agreements, excluding the amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The revenue is
only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur.

2020 Annual Report

|

35

Sale of goods

The sale of goods is not the Group’s principal activity and does not constitute a significant part of revenue. The Group sells
unused stocks, materials, etc. The Group recognises revenue from the sale of the goods when it transfers control of a good
to a customer.

Financing component

Group does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer
and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for
the time value of money.

Interest income

Revenue arising from interest is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction
will flow to the entity and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest rate method.

Q. Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve has been set up in conjunction with the acquisition of control in a joint venture (which at the time of
acquisition on 31.12.2007 became a subsidiary of the Group). At the time of acquiring control, the non-current assets of the
joint venture were revalued to fair value and part of the revaluation amount (growth in the value of net assets of the joint
venture between the date of initial acquisition of the shares and obtaining of 100% control) was recognised in the revaluation
reserve in equity. The revaluation reserve is part of the restricted equity and it is not distributable to shareholders.
When non-current assets of the acquired subsidiary become impaired, the impairment loss is covered first from the revaluation reserve and the excess amount is reported in the income statement.

R. Statutory reserve capital
In accordance with the Commercial Code, statutory reserve capital is set up from annual net profit allocations. During each
financial year, at least one-twentieth of the net profit shall be entered in reserve capital, until reserve capital reaches onetenth of share capital. Reserve capital may be used to cover a loss, or to increase share capital. Payments shall not be made
to shareholders from reserve capital.

S. Foreign exchange reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

T. Treasury shares
If a Group company purchases the parent company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs is deducted from equity attributable to the company’s equity holders until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs, is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.

U. Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition the
Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in profit or loss, and an ECL allowance described in E above.
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Note 2 Financial risk management
All financial assets and liabilities of the Group are recognised at amortised cost.

2.1. Financial risk
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (includes foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management is performed on AS Liwathon E.O.S’s management level
and focuses on unforeseen changes in the financial markets and attempts to alleviate potential unfavourable effects on the
Group’s financial activities. The goal of the management of financial risks is the lowering of financial risks as well as the volatility of the result of operations.
Risk concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same
geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly
affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s
performance to developments affecting a particular industry.
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group has established specific policies and procedures. For example,
outstanding customer receivables and contract assets are regularly monitored and any sales to major customers are generally
covered by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance obtained from reputable banks and other financial institutions.
As at 31 December 2020 the Group was exposed to significant credit risk concentration, because receivable from one customer amounted to 69% of total receivables of the Group, the second largest receivable amounted to 12%. As at 31 December
2019 receivable from one customer made up 94% of the total Group’s receivables, the second largest exposure made up 2%.

(a) Market risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. The Group is not exposed to price risk, because it does
not hold any securities traded in the open market.

(I) Currency risk
The Group’s functional currency is the euro (EUR). The Group’s financial instruments affected by the currency risk include
cash and cash equivalents, other short-term deposits and trade receivables.
An overview of the financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies is presented below. The tables
present the amounts in thousands of euros by the underlying currency of the respective monetary assets and liabilities. For
the purpose of currency risk management, the management analyses the effects arising from fluctuation in foreign exchange
rates on the Group’s cash flows, considering inflows and outflows in different currencies and their weights and timing.
31.12.2020

USD

EUR

GBP

Total

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)

9,382

2,192

79

11,653

Short-term receivables (Note 5)

1,697

5,482

0

7,179

11,079

7,674

79

18,832

Current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

768

92

860

Other current liabilities (Note 11)

0

1,866

1

1,867

Non-current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

10,439

152

10,591

Total financial liabilities

0

13,073

245

13,318

USD

EUR

GBP

Total

2,761

1,169

0

3,930

128

12,505

0

12,633

2,889

13,674

0

16,563

Current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

1,120

0

1,120

Other current liabilities (Note 11)

0

2,588

0

2,588

Non-current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

11,595

0

11,595

Total financial liabilities

0

15,303

0

15,303

Total financial assets

31.12.2019
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Short-term receivables (Note 5)
Total financial assets

(EUR thousands)
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Short-term receivables include trade receivables and other financial assets. Other current liabilities include trade payables and
other financial liabilities (other than borrowings).
(II) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk was primarily related to long-term borrowings with floating interest rates.
Based on the previous periods’ movements and volatility of the variables presented below as well as the management’s
knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Group considers the following changes reasonably possible over the
following 12 months.
Proportionate movement in the USD exchange rate – 5% appreciation of USD (depreciation of EUR) and 5% depreciation of
USD (appreciation of EUR); GBP exchange rate -5% appreciation of GBP (depreciation of EUR) and 5% depreciation of GBP
(appreciation of EUR); USD 1 = EUR 0.81490 on 31.12.2020 (USD 1 = EUR 0.8902 on 31.12.2019); 1GBP=1.11231EUR.
The following table presents the effects of foreign exchange risk on the Group’s operations.
Foreign exchange risk
31.12.2020

Interest rate risk

USD
appreciates
by 5%

USD
depreciates
by 5%

GBP
appreciates
5%

GBP
depreciates
5%

Interest
rate
increases

Interest
rate
decreases

Carrying
amount

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

11,653

469

-469

4

-4

12

0

666

3

-3

0

0

0

0

6,513

81

-81

0

0

0

0

553

-553

4

-4

12

0

11,451

0

0

-12

12

-1

0

Other financial liabilities (Note 11)

1,867

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total effect on financial liabilities

0

0

-12

12

-1

0

0

553

-553

-8

8

11

0

15,303

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Trade receivables (Note 5)
Other financial assets (Note 5)
Total effect on financial assets

Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities (Note 9)

Total effect on statement of
comprehensive income
(EUR thousand)
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Interest rate risk

USD
appreciates
by 5%

USD
depreciates
by 5%

GBP
appreciates
5%

GBP
depreciates
5%

Interest
rate
increases

Interest
rate
decreases

Carrying
amount

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

3,929

138

-138

0

0

4

0

10,433

6

-6

0

0

0

0

2,200

0

0

0

0

0

0

144

-144

0

0

4

0

12,715

0

0

0

0

-2

0

2,588

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-2

0

144

-144

0

0

2

0

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Trade receivables (Note 5)
Other financial assets (Note 5)
Total effect on financial assets
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities (Note 9)
Other financial liabilities (Note 11)
Total effect on financial liabilities
Total effect on statement of
comprehensive income

The effects of changes in currency exchange rates are immaterial for the Group.

(b) Liquidity risk
For the Group, liquidity risk is the Group’s inability to settle the liabilities it has assumed in time. Liquidity risk is managed by
various financial instruments, such as loans from banks and shareholders, if needed. In its daily activities, the management
attempts to maintain adequate liquid assets to meet its financial obligations, continuously monitoring cash flow forecasts for
the following three months. Longer term forecasts are prepared when raising debt. In concluding long-term and large-scale construction contracts, feasible payment terms coinciding with cash inflows are agreed upon.
In the following liquidity analysis, the distribution of the Group’s current and non-current financial liabilities is shown by the
maturity date. All amounts shown in the table are undiscounted cash flows.
Distribution of liabilities by maturity date
Note

Up to 3
months

Between
3 months and
1 year

Between 1
and 5 years

Due after 5
years

Total
undiscounted
cash flows

Carrying amount

Lease payments

9

427

791

4,023

9,588

14,829

11,451

Trade and other
payables*

11

1,867

0

0

0

1,867

1,867

2,294

791

4,023

9,588

16,696

13,318

Note

Up to 3
months

Between 3
months and 1
year

Between 1
and 5 years

Due after 5
years

Total
undiscounted
cash flows

Carrying amount

Lease payments

9

485

1,029

4,198

10,844

16,556

12,715

Trade and other
payables*

11

2,588

0

0

0

2,588

2,588

3,073

1,029

4,198

10,844

19,144

15,303

(EUR thousand)

As of 31.12.2020

Total cash flows related
to financial liabilities
(EUR thousand)

As of 31.12.2019

Total cash flows related
to financial liabilities

* Total trade and other payables less prepayments, employee payables, taxes
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< 1 year

due between
1-5 years

later than 5
years

Total

1,218

4,023

9,588

14,829

358

1,193

1,826

3,377

860

2,830

7,762

11,451

1,514

4,198

10,844

16,556

394

1,317

2,130

3,841

1,120

2,881

8,714

12,715

As of 31.12.2020
Minimum lease payments
Interest payments
Present value of lease payments

10

As of 31.12.2019
Minimum lease payments
Interest payments
Present value of lease payments

10

As at 31.12.2020, the outstanding balance of the lease liability is EUR 11,451 thousand (31.12.2019: only leases EUR 12,715
thousand).
The cash flows presented in the table have not been discounted and therefore, do not agree to the information in Note 9
Leases.
Undiscounted cash flows have been determined according to the current payment schedules valid as of the end of the period.
Interest rates used in analysis
Lease payments

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

3M EURIBOR+margin; 6M
EURIBOR+margin; 3%-4,5%

3M EURIBOR+margin; 6M
EURIBOR+margin; 3%-4,5%

As at 31.12.2020, the outstanding balance of the lease liability is EUR 11,451 thousand (31.12.2019: only leases EUR 12,715
thousand).
The cash flows presented in the table have not been discounted and therefore, do not agree to the information in Note 9
Leases.
Undiscounted cash flows have been determined according to the current payment schedules valid as of the end of the period.
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(c) Credit risk
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period
of 36 months before 31 December 2020 or 31 December 2019 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
On that basis described above, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 was determined immaterial. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, no impairment loss was
identified as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.
Credit risk is the risk that the Group’s clients and counterparties fail to fulfil their obligations. The following financial instruments are exposed to credit risk: cash in bank, bank deposits and trade receivables. Cash is deposited in commercial banks
with a high credit rating, bank ratings are presented in Note 4. The Group’s sales transactions are concluded with business
partners that the Group has long-term collaboration experience with and whose solvency has been tested, and the management has not deemed it necessary to assign credit limits to them. One to two-week payment terms are valid for clients,
providing fast feedback to the Group in case of payment difficulties (see the ageing analysis in Note 5).
The Group’s monetary funds have been deposited with banks with a credit rating of at least Baa2 by Moody’s rating agency.
The Group’s maximum amount exposed to credit risk as of the balance sheet date is as follows:
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

11,653

3,929

Trade and other receivables **

2,549

12,634

Term deposits (Note 5)

4,630

0

18,832

16,563

(EUR thousand)
Cash and cash equivalents *

Total amounts exposed to credit risk

* total cash and cash equivalents less cash on hand (Note 4)
** total trade and other receivables less prepayments (Note 5)
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2.2. Capital management
The goal of the Group’s capital management is to continue as a going concern in order to generate returns for its shareholders and maintain an optimal capital structure. For managing capital, management monitors the proportion of debt to
equity in its capital structure.
For the Group, capital includes both borrowings (Note 9) (less cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)) as well as equity (Note 12).
The current debt to equity ratio meets the range of expectations of the management.
(EUR thousand)

Note

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Lease liabilities

9

11,451

12,715

Less cash and cash equivalents

4

-11,653

-3,929

-202

8,786

Equity

46,477

33,976

Total capital

46,275

42 761

0%

26%

Net debt

Debt to equity ratio

The Group adheres to the requirement set in the Commercial Code of the Republic of Estonia under which the equity of the
entity must not be less than ½ of the issued capital. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group was in line with this regulation. The Group’s capital management policy did not change during the year.

2.3. Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values
are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The Group estimates that the fair values of assets and liabilities reported at amortised cost do not materially differ from the
carrying amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as of 31.12.2020 and 31.12.2019.
Trade receivables less allowances and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to short-term maturities of these instruments.
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Note 3 Key accounting estimates and judgements Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected
in the assumptions when they occur.

Determination of useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Management has estimated the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets, considering business
conditions and volumes, historical experience in this field and future outlook. Management has estimated and established
useful lives which are presented in the sections Property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets of Note 1 Accounting
policies. As of 31.12.2020, the cost of depreciable tangible assets was EUR 333 million (31.12.2019: EUR 344 million) and that
of amortisable intangible assets was EUR 0,9 million (31.12.2019: EUR 0,9 million). The average depreciation rates for items
of property, plant and equipment were 4.2% (2019 4.2%) and average amortisation rates for intangible assets were 4.4%
(2019 4.4%). If depreciation and amortisation rates were increased by 10%, the annual depreciation and amortisation charge
would increase and the net profit would decrease by approximately EUR 1,0 million (in 2019 by EUR 1,0 million).

Impairment test of non-financial assets

On each balance sheet date the management assesses whether there are any indications of a non-financial asset being
impaired. In case of such indications, an impairment test is performed and if necessary, the assets are written down to their
recoverable amount (if the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount).
In 2020 the management has not performed an impairment test because there were no indications of impairment. As at
31.12.2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s tangible and intangible assets before write offs was EUR 44,1 thousand.
Considering the plan to cease the activity of E.R.S. AS in 2020, the Group assessed the future use of non-current assets of
the subsidiary. Assets which were not expected to be used by the parent or sold, were impaired in full and derecognised.
Impairment loss recognised in 2019 amounted to EUR 1,980.0 thousand. See also Note 7.
Key principles of impairment of non-financial assets are presented in Note 1.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the
lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is
within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction
of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the leased asset).
The Group did not include the renewal period as part of the lease term for its leases of tank reservoirs, the related infrastructure and land leases because these leases have long non-cancellable periods and are not reasonably certain to be
exercised. In addition, the renewal options for leases of motor vehicles are not included as part of the lease term because
the Group typically leases motor vehicles for not more than five years and, hence, is not exercising any renewal options. Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably
certain not to be exercised.
Refer to Note 9 for information on potential future rental payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension
and termination options that are not included in the lease term.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate
(IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

COVID-19 pandemic situation
The Group assessed the potential impact of COVID-19 pandemic situation, including going concern assumption. The management has assessed that this matter will not affect the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern as the Group has not
experienced and does not expect to experience a significant business disruption due to this matter and also has sufficient
balance of cash and cash equivalents and liquid assets in order to manage the short-term volatility in the Group’s cash flows
if caused by COVID-19 situation. This matter might have a significant impact on these estimates in the next financial period,
which cannot be reasonably quantified at this stage by the management due to great level of uncertainty associated with
further development of COVID-19 pandemic situation in the countries of operations of the Group and its customers and the
economy as the whole due to general business disruption caused by this matter.
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Note 4 Cash and cash equivalents
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Cash in banks

11,653

3,929

Total cash and cash equivalents

11,653

3,929

(EUR thousand)

According to the ratings by the international rating agency Moody’s, the Group’s monetary funds have been deposited in
financial institutions as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents in financial
institutions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Financial institutions with credit rating Aa2

11,300

3,929

Financial institutions with credit rating Ba1

265

0

Financial institutions with credit rating Ba2

9

0

Financial institutions without credit rating

79

0

11,653

3,929

Total cash and cash equivalents in financial
institutions
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Note 5 Trade and other receivables and prepayments
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Accounts receivable

666

10,433

Total trade receivables

666

10,433

Prepaid taxes (see below)

280

340

Total prepaid taxes

280

340

4,630

0

20

0

Other receivables

1,883

2,200

Total other short-term receivables

6,533

2,200

264

233

7,743

13,207

(EUR thousand)
Short-term receivables and prepayments

Term deposits
Loans to related parties (note 21)

Prepayments for services
Total receivables and prepayments

The majority of trade receivables are denominated in EUR. Other receivables are mostly denominated in EUR. The split of
receivables by currency is disclosed in Note 2. Other receivables 31.12.2020 of EUR 1,883 thousand (31.12.2019 of EUR 2,00
thousand) consist of customs deposit paid to the Estonian Tax and Customs Board and credit invoices issued by a supplier for
port fees. Other receivables do not include any material receivables that are overdue or impaired.
The credit quality of receivables is assessed on the basis of credit ratings assigned by independent parties or, if absent, based on
prior credit history of relevant customers.
Other receivables classified as financial assets have not been awarded with credit ratings by independent parties.
Term deposits are comprised of EUR deposits with financial institutions for an original term longer than 3 months. Changes in
term deposits are included in cash flows from investing activities in the statement of cash flows.

Term deposits with financial institutions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Financial institutions with credit rating Baa1

3,000

0

Financial institutions with credit rating Baa2

1,630

0

Total term deposits with financial institutions

4,630

0
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Analysis of accounts receivable is presented below.
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

660

10,421

overdue by 1 month

6

4

overdue by 1-3 months

0

9

Total accounts receivable overdue but not impaired

6

13

666

10,433

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

4

9,738

Accounts receivable (settled within or after 6 months) that are
not overdue in the last 6 months

512

393

Accounts receivable (settled in 6 months or more) that were
overdue in the last 6 months

144

290

Total accounts receivable not due

660

10,421

Accounts receivable not due and not impaired
Accounts receivable overdue but not impaired

Total accounts receivable
Accounts receivable not due and not impaired
Accounts receivable (settled within 6 months)

All receivables, which were not yet due as of 31.12.2020 were collected by the date of the preparation of the annual report.
Decrease in receivables relates to a an invoice for fuel excise tax reinvoiced to a client that was outstanding as at 31.12.2019
but settled in 2020.
Doubtful receivables are deemed as irrecoverable when there are no expectations in respect of collection of cash or other
financial assets.
More detailed information about prepaid taxes and recoveries as well as taxes payable (see also Note 11) is presented in the
following table:
31.12.2020
Tax

31.12.2019

Prepayment

Tax payable

Prepayment

Tax payable

0

6

0

18

280

0

340

0

Personal income tax

0

158

0

158

Social security tax

0

284

0

300

Contributions to mandatory funded
pension

0

11

0

11

Fuel excise tax

0

0

0

9,614

Unemployment insurance tax

0

16

0

17

Environmental taxes

0

8

0

5

280

483

340

10,122

Corporate income tax
Value added tax

Total
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Note 6 Inventories
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

367

427

Goods purchased for sale

1,185

1,185

Total

1,552

1,612

(EUR thousand)
Spare parts and other inventories

As at 31.12.2020 as well as at 31.12.2019, no decrease in the value of inventories was identified (Note 16). All inventory is
recognised at cost.
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Non-current assets held for sale

551

0

Total

551

0

(EUR thousand)

In December 2020 the Group signed an agreement for sale of a property in 2021. The client has settled the prepayment
invoice by 31 December 2020. The property will be sold in 2021. Therefore, the property has been reclassified to non-current
assets held for sale in 2020.
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Note 7 Property, plant and equipment
Land

Buildings
and facilities

Machinery
and
equipment

Other PPE

Construction
in progress
and prepayments

Total

4,417

232,320

97,798

1,866

85

336,486

0

-209,446

-90,169

-1,639

0

-301,254

4,417

22,874

7,629

227

85

35,232

123

14

124

16

1,664

1,941

Reclassification

0

405

952

2

-1,358

0

Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount

0

-1,806

-303

-94

0

-2,203

Depreciation charge

-496

-2,085

-1,307

-103

0

-3,991

Adoption of IFRS 16

8,808

1,647

667

0

0

11,122

13,348

230,167

98,139

1,712

390

343,756

-496

-209,117

-90,378

-1,664

0

-301,655

12,852

21,050

7,761

48

390

42,101

0

2

7

40

1,259

1,308

Reclassification (note 6)

-551

813

578

0

-1,391

-551

Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount

-438

-247

-1,842

-33

0

-2,559

0

319

0

79

0

398

72

0

83

0

0

155

-487

-1,168

-390

-50

0

-7

0

0

0

-7

12,389

230,853

87,853

1,698

258

333,049

-942

-210,089

-81,656

-1,614

0

-294,299

11,447

20,764

6,198

84

258

38,751

(EUR thousand)
Balance as of 31.12.2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount
Changes occurred in 2019
Additions

Balance as of 31.12.2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount
Changes occurred in 2020
Additions

Additions from business combination
(note 18)
Additions to right-of-use assets
Depreciation charge
Foreign exchange

-2,095

Balance as of 31.12.2020
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount
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Due to the restructuring and wind-down of the Group’s railway business activities, in 2019 the management determined
that the related assets had lost their fair value and wrote the value of those assets off. The Group’s railway activities were
largely related to product transshipment from Russia, which has ceased. The loss from the write-off amounted to EUR 1,980
thousand.
In 2020 the management has sold the remaining assets related to railway operations. Profit from these sales totaled to EUR
3,192 thousand. Lease agreements related to railway business have been terminated.
No indications of impairment were identified for other non-current assets of the Group as at 31.12.2020. The carrying value
of property, plant and equipment (including leased assets) is considered to approximate their fair value.
In 2020 the bank released the pledges of assets formerly pledged as collateral for loans as all loans were repaid in February
2019.
Maturity and liquidity information for leases are provided in Note 2(b) and 9.
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Note 8 Intangible assets
Other intangible assets

Total

1,016

1,016

-917

-917

100

100

Additions in reporting period

75

75

Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount

-5

-5

-80

-80

895

895

-839

-839

55

55

14

14

0

0

-27

-27

909

909

-866

-866

43

43

(EUR thousand)
Balance as of 31.12.2018
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount
Changes occurred in 2019

Amortisation charge
Balance as of 31.12.2019
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount
Changes occurred in 2020
Additions in reporting period
Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount
Amortisation charge
Balance as of 31.12.2020
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount
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Note 9 Leases
Group as lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various items of property, machinery, vehicles and other equipment used in its operations. Leases of land and other property generally have lease terms between 3 and 15 years, while motor vehicles and other
equipment generally have lease terms between 2 and 43 years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the
lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets. There
are several lease contracts that include extension and termination options and variable lease payments, which are further
discussed below. The Group also has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office
equipment with low value. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions
for these leases.
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised under property, plant and equipment and the
movements during the period:
(EUR thousand)

Land

Buildings

Motor vehicles

Total

As at 1 January 2019

8,808

3,385

625

12,818

Additions

123

14

115

252

Disposals

0

0

-15

-15

-496

-406

-217

-1,119

8,435

2,993

508

11,935

Additions

72

311

91

474

Disposals

-437

-247

-246

-930

Depreciation expense

-487

-298

-155

-941

7,582

2,759

198

10,539

Depreciation expense
As at 31 December 2019

As at 31 December 2020

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:
2020

2019

12,715

13,454

474

237

-930

0

386

323

Payments

-1,194

-1,299

As at 31 December

11,451

12,715

860

1,120

10,591

11,595

As at 1 January
Additions
Terminations and transfers
Accretion of interest

Current
Non-current

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 2(b)
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The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:
2020

2019

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets

941

1,119

Interest expense on lease liabilities

386

323

Expenses relating to short-term leases
(included in operating expenses)

18

16

Expenses relating to leases of low-value
assets (included in operating expenses)

39

52

173

154

1,557

1,665

Variable lease payments (included in
operating expenses)
Total amount recognised in profit or loss

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of EUR 1,194 thousand (EUR 1,299 thousand in 2019). The Group also had
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of EUR 474 thousand (EUR 11,332 thousand in 2019).
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Group’s business needs. Management
exercises significant judgement in determining whether these extension and termination options are reasonably certain to
be exercised (see Note 3).
The Group’s lease liabilities are denominated in EUR and GBP (see Note 2).

Group as a lessor
The Group has entered into operating leases on its machinery consisting of certain railway locomotives mostly. These leases
have terms shorter than 12 months.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year is EUR 59 thousand (2019: EUR 35 thousand).
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:
2020

2019

288

9

76

9

212

0

2020

2019

Office space rent

41

35

Rent of infrastructure

18

0

Total rental income

59

35

Future rent income from non-cancellable
leases:
Within one year
1-5 year

Rental income
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Note 10 Other current financial assets
(EUR thousand)

2020

Acquisition

1 402

Changes in fair value

-184

Fair value as at 31.12.2020

1 218

In the reporting period the Group, through acquisition of subsidiary Liwathon Limited, obtained convertible bonds (note
18) which were converted into shares of the issuer on 5th of October 2020. The shares are listed and measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Fair value measurement is based on level 1 inputs as defined in IFRS 13.

Note 11 Trade and other payables
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Payables for non-current assets

101

48

Payables for other services and goods

777

842

Total trade payables

878

890

Payables to employees

794

1,121

483

10,122

145

0

Other payables

1,285

2,081

Total trade and other payables

3,583

14,214

(EUR thousand)

Note

Trade payables

Taxes payable

5

Prepayments received (contract liability)

Taxes payable as at 31.12.2019 related mainly to fuel excise tax that has been reinvoiced to a client. See note 5 for further
details.

Note 12 Equity
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

2,133

2,133

33,334

33,334

incl. number of treasury shares (pcs)

3,332

3,332

Nominal value of shares (in euros)

64.00

64.00

Share capital (in thousand euros)
The number of shares issued and fully paid (pcs)

The consolidated retained earnings of AS Liwathon E.O.S. (taking into account the statutory requirement to transfer 1/20 of
the financial year’s net profit to statutory reserve capital and the effect of the acquired treasury shares on equity) as of 31
December 2020 were negative (31 December 2019: negative). Therefore, profit distributions are not possible and no tax-related contingent liabilities exist as at 31.12.2020 (31.12.2019).
In 2019 and 2020 there were no dividends declared.
In 2019 the shareholders of AS Liwathon E.O.S changed after Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ acquired 100% of the Liwathon
E.O.S. shares.
In 2011, AS Liwathon E.O.S. acquired a total of 3,332 own shares from shareholders. As a result of the transaction, no changes
occurred in the effective ownership interests of the shareholders.
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Note 13 Revenue
The place of occurrence of the Group’s sales revenue is Estonia.

Distribution of revenue by activity:
(EUR thousand)

2020

2019

Transshipment of oil products

2,806

3,795

26,126

16,455

Railway services

15

947

Repair services

1

1,102

79

54

280

79

29,307

22,432

2020

2019

85

41

1,662

2,380

31

213

272

291

Electricity expenses

1,701

2,049

Maintenance and repairs related to operating
activities

1,011

1,192

Other operating expenses

856

1,159

Land tax and rental expenses

341

227

Insurance expenses

469

556

39

51

Consulting fees

357

274

Maintenance of other assets

121

171

0

864

Office rent and maintenance, office supplies and
fixtures

106

126

Security costs

315

365

Employee-related expenses

132

133

IT costs

193

209

42

56

7,733

10,357

Storage of oil products

Income from utility services
Other revenue
Total revenue from contracts with customers

Note 14 Operating expenses
(EUR thousand)
Logistics services expenses
Heating expenses
Fuel costs related to main operating activities
Port fees

Rent of assets related to main operating activities

Repair services and replacement parts

Telecommunications expenses
Total operating expenses
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Note 15 Staff costs
(EUR thousand)

2020

2019

Basic and additional wages, bonuses,
vacation pay, contractors’ fees

6,782

8,006

231

274

Social security taxes and unemployment
insurance premium

2,292

2,759

Total staff costs

9,305

11,039

Benefits and compensation

In 2020, the Group employed 247 employees on average (290 employees on average in 2019).

Note 16 Other income and expenses
Other income
Foreign exchange gains
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Other income
Gain from sale of subsidiary
Total other income

2020

2019

0

1

3,205

109

52

103

170

0

3,427

212

-47

-9

-3

-1,980

-50

-1,989

Other expenses
Foreign exchange losses
Loss on disposal and write-off of property,
plant and equipment (note 7)
Total other expenses

As part of restructuring of the Group, AS E.R.S. was demerged by way of separation in 2020 with an aim to optimise the
Group’s operations. In accordance with the demerger agreement, AS E.R.S. transferred part of its net assets, including lease
agreement with Eesti Energia from 12.01.2011 for the use of depot building at Peterburi tee 105, Maardu city, Harjumaa
74114, together with all related rights and obligations and employment contracts of employees engaged in maintenance of
the depot and railway, to a newly established group entity GoRealWorks OÜ. The new subsidiary was sold in April 2020 for
EUR 200 thousand.
The Group also sold the net assets of its subsidiary EK Holding for EUR 3 thousand.
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Note 17 Finance income and costs
2020

2019

7

9

Other interest income

28

0

Other finance income

258

0

Total finance income

293

9

0

-11

Interest expenses on leases

-386

-419

Other finance costs

-197

-2

Foreign exchange losses

-713

-28

Total finance costs

-1,296

-460

Total finance income and costs

-1,003

-451

(EUR thousand)
Finance income and costs
Finance income
Interest income from bank accounts and
deposits

Interest expenses on bank loans
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Note 18 Acquisition of a subsidiary
In April 2020 Liwathon E.O.S. acquired 100% ownership in Liwathon Limited. Liwathon Limited is an entity incorporated in the
United Kingdom and engaged in provision of business development and other support services.
Since Liwathon E.O.S. gained control over the entity in April 2020, all assets, liabilities, income and expenses have been consolidated since 1 April 2020.
In calendar year 2020 Liwathon Limited earned loss of EUR 370 thousand. The loss consolidated by the Group in the reporting
period totaled EUR 296 thousand.
Set out below are fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired as at the acquisition date (in thousands euros):
Fair values 01.04.2020
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables and prepayments

31
178

Other financial assets

1,131

Total current assets

1,340

Non-current assets
Property and equipment (note 7)

398

Total non-current assets

398

TOTAL ASSETS

1,738

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities (note 9)

93

Trade and other payable

70

Total current liabilities

163

Non-current liabilities

0

Lease liabilities (note 9)

225

Total non-current liabilities

225

TOTAL LIABILITIES

388

FAIR VALUE OF NET ASSETS

1,350

Consideration transferred in cash

1,350
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Note 19 Contingent liabilities
(a) Guarantees issued

The Group has issued deposit guarantees in amount of EUR 1,389 thousand (2019: bank guarantees EUR 961 thousand)
for the benefit of the Estonian Tax and Customs Board. Since all bank loans had been repaid by 2020 and related pledge
agreements terminated, the Group has made a deposit payment of EUR 428 thousand to the Tax and Customs Board for
continuation of its activities in 2020.

(b) Potential liabilities arising from the tax audit

The tax authorities have not carried out any tax audits in the Group in 2020 and 2019. The tax authorities have the right to
verify the tax records of group entities up to 5 years from the time of submitting the tax declaration and upon finding errors,
impose additional taxes, interest and fines.
The Group’s management is not aware of any circumstances which may lead the tax authorities to impose additional significant taxes on the Group companies.

Note 20 Off-balance sheet liabilities and commitments
Investment commitments

Investment commitments arising from construction contracts are as follows (in EUR thousand)
Contracts for the following period
As of 31.12.2020

76

As of 31.12.2019

208

Note 21 Related party transactions
In preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements, the following entities have been considered as related parties:
a.
b.
c.
d.

owners (persons having joint control over the entity and the persons controlling or having significant
influence over them);
other entities of the owners’ consolidation groups (incl. fellow subsidiaries);
management and supervisory boards;
close relatives of the persons described above and the entities under their control or significant influence.

The shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S. is Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ. The sole shareholder of Liwathon Terminals Estonia
OÜ is a Guernsey company Liwathon Terminals Limited.
(EUR thousand)

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

0

17

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

20

0

Balances with related parties
Transactions with other related parties
Purchases of various goods and services
from entities
(EUR thousand)
Current loan granted
Loan to parent entity

In the reporting period, the remuneration paid to the management and supervisory board members of the group entities
totaled EUR 899 thousand (2019: EUR 1,149 thousand) (Note 15).
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Note 22 Events after the balance sheet date
All shares recognised as Other current financial assets have been sold by the date of publishing this report. This event is a
non-adjusting subsequent event (note 10).
From 1 January 2021 until the time of authorising these financial statements for issue, there have been no other events
requiring disclosure in the financial statements or that would materially impact the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for the year 2020.

Note 23 Supplementary disclosures on the parent of the Group
According to the Accounting Act of Estonia, the notes to the consolidated financial statements shall include disclosures on
the separate primary financial statements of the consolidating entity (parent). These primary financial statements of the
parent of the Group are not separate financial statements as defined by IAS 27 Separate financial statements. The separate
primary statements of the parent have been prepared using the same accounting policies that have been used for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, except for investments into subsidiaries, which are reported at cost in the
parent’s separate statements.
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Statement of financial position of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

10,537

3,785

4,908

12,990

136

0

1,552

1,578

551

0

17,684

18,353

1,638

292

38,443

39,708

43

55

Total non-current assets

40,124

40,055

TOTAL ASSETS

57,808

58,408

768

1,055

Trade and other payables

10,693

21,119

Total current liabilities

11,461

22,174

Borrowings

10,439

11,074

Total non-current liabilities

10,439

11,074

TOTAL LIABILITIES

21,900

33,248

2,133

2,133

63,177

63,177

213

213

3,185

3,185

109,613

98,865

-142,413

-142,413

Total equity

35,908

25,160

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

57,808

58,408

(EUR thousand)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables and prepayments
Prepayments
Inventories
Non-current assets held for sale
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Borrowings

Non-current liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Statutory reserve capital
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Treasury shares
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Statement of comprehensive income of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
2020

2019

29,444

20,507

263

45

29,707

20,552

Operating expenses

-7,584

-9,492

Staff costs

-8,430

-8,981

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

-1,811

-2,790

-48

-98

-17,873

-21,361

11,834

-809

977

43

Finance costs

-2,065

-477

Total finance income and costs

-1,087

-434

Profit (loss) before tax

10,747

-1,243

Net profit (loss) for financial year

10,747

-1,243

Comprehensive income (loss) for financial
year

10,747

-1,243

(EUR thousand)
Revenue
Other income
Total operating income
Operating expenses

Other expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating profit (loss)
Finance income
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Cash flow statement of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
2020

2019

10,747

-1,243

1,784

2,790

27

89

Other finance income/expenses

1,087

434

Change in receivables and inventories
related to operating activities

10,071

-11,601

Change in liabilities and prepayments
related to operating activities

-10,569

9,737

-14

0

-377

-320

12,756

-114

-1,308

-1,448

-14

-40

7

2

-463

0

203

0

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash
acquired

-1,350

0

Changes in term deposits

-1,653

6,525

6

8

-4,572

5,047

0

-1,773

Repayments of finance lease principal

-716

-1,000

Total cash flows from financing activities

-716

-2,773

Total cash flows

7,468

2,160

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year

3,785

1,653

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

7,468

2,160

-716

-28

10,537

3,785

(EUR thousand)
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss) before tax
Adjustments:
Depreciation and impairment
Gain/loss (-/+) on disposal and write-off
of property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets

Other adjustments
Interest paid
Total cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Loans granted to parent and subsidiary
Sale of subsidiary

Interest received
Total cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of bank loans

Currency translation differences
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
year
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Statement of changes in equity of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
Share
capital

Share
premium

Statutory
reserve
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Treasury
shares

Total

Balance as of 31.12.2018

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

195,758

-142,413

122,054

Net loss for financial year

0

0

0

0

-1,243

0

-1,243

Other comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total comprehensive loss

0

0

0

0

-1,243

0

-1,243

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

98,865

-142,413

25,160

(EUR thousand)

Unconsolidated balance as of
31.12.2019
Carrying amount of investments
under significant influence

-292

Value of investments the equity
method

9,106

Adjusted unconsolidated equity
as of 31.12.2019

33,976

Balance as of 31.12.2019

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

98,865

-142,413

25,160

Net profit for financial year

0

0

0

0

10,747

0

10,747

Other comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

10,747

0

10,747

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

109,613

-142,413

35,908

Unconsolidated balance as of
31.12.2020
Carrying amount of investments
under significant influence

-1,638

Value of investments the equity
method

12,207

Adjusted unconsolidated equity
as of 31.12.2020

46,477

Adjusted unconsolidated retained earnings represent the amount that is available for distribution to the shareholders
according to the Accounting Act of Estonia.
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Translation of the Estonian Original
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AS Liwathon E.O.S. and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Estonia, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our unqualified opinion.
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of management report, but does not consist of
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited

2020 Annual Report

|

65

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (Estonia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (Estonia), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Tallinn, 16 April 2021
/signed digitally/
Riina Alt
Authorised Auditor’s number 618
Ernst & Young Baltic AS
Audit Company’s Registration number 58

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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AS Liwathon E.O.S. unconsolidated revenue in accordance with
EMTAK 2008
EMTAK code

Activity

2020

2019

52 241

Handling of cargo

2,806

3,795

52 299

Other unclassified auxiliary
transportation operations

26,370

16,455

66 191

Other activities auxiliary to financial
intermediation n.e.c.

174

174

68 201

Renting or operating of own or leased
real estate

83

60

46 771

Sale of scrap metal

11

24

29,444

20,507

Total unconsolidated revenue

